.

1

CASE NO. 73,856

PEDRO MEDINA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HEIM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

BILLY H. NOLAS Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0806821

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND INTRODUCTION

Pedro Medina filed below a motion to vacate pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. **3.850,** and an amendment to the motion. The circuit court allowed a very limited evidentiary hearing, involving only **two** of the issues presented, and then limited that hearing even further -- both in terms of the scope of the issues it would hear and in terms of the evidence that it would hear on the issues. At the evidentiary hearing the lower court limited Appellant's presentation, repeatedly interrupted counsel, interposed the court's own objections and ruled on them, and propounded alternate grounds for the objections that the prosecutor did raise. As a result, a hearing that began as less than the full and fair hearing contemplated by this Court when the files and records do not conclusively show that the petitioner **is** not entitled to relief, rapidly deteriorated even further.

In its Order denying relief, the lower court committed a number of errors and erred in its ultimate disposal of the claims. A full, fair, and complete hearing is still required in this case.

On April 4, 1982, Dorothy James was found stabbed to death in her Orlando, Florida, apartment. On April 8, 1982, Pedro Medina was found, by a Highway Patrolman, asleep in the driver's seat of Ms. James' car. Mr. Medina was arrested and, incident to a search of the car, the police found a knife underneath a hubcap on the floor of the back seat. That knife was later introduced at trial and characterized as the murder weapon. Another knife, found in the victim's residence, was given to the Medical Examiner for inspection but was never presented to the jury or judge, nor disclosed to the defense.

There was no direct evidence linking Mr. Medina to Ms. James' death. Mr. Medina and Ms. James were friends. The victim's daughters, who knew Mr. Medina, were willing to testify about his qualities and to ask that he not be executed.

No one called them to the stand at sentencing.

8

8

Shortly before trial, the public defender who had been appointed to represent Mr. Medina moved to withdraw -- that office had previously represented one of the State's witnesses. Warren Edwards and Anna Tangel-Rodriguez, private attorneys, were appointed to represent Mr. Medina. A new trial date was set. During opening statements, the State mentioned evidence it would be presenting concerning Mr. Medina's alleged attempt at flight from a transportation bus (R. 135). An escape charge had not been consolidated with the indictment's murder charge. The last witness called by the State was Michael White. Despite the court's initial ruling to the contrary, White testified that Mr. Medina had stabbed him with a knife. A motion for mistrial was denied (R. 647-48).

Before the defense case was presented, a note was delivered from the jury room. One of the jurors felt unable to remain impartial unless Mr. Medina specifically rebutted Michael White's testimony. The trial court excused this juror and replaced him with an alternate, again denying the motion for mistrial (R. 661-64), and refusing to inquire as to how the other jurors may have been affected (R. 665-68). The jury convicted and then recommended death. The court found that the murder was heinous, atrocious or cruel, and that it was committed for pecuniary gain. In mitigation, the court found that Mr. Medina lacked a prior significant criminal history (R. 1877-79). The court imposed a death sentence,

This Court affirmed on appeal. <u>Medina v. State</u>, **466 So.** 2d **1046** (Fla. **1985).** The instant Rule **3.850** motion was thereafter filed and amended. The circuit court held a limited evidentiary hearing and denied relief on February **6**, **1989.** The court also denied a Motion for Rehearing on or about February **16**, **1989.** This appeal follows.

#### ARGUMENT

#### **(I)**

BECAUSE OF THE STATE'S WITHHOLDING OF EVIDENCE IN VIOLATION OF <u>BRADY</u> <u>V. MARYLAND</u> AND ITS PROGENY AND/OR BECAUSE OF DEFENSE COUNSEL'S UNREASONABLE AND PREJUDICIAL FAILURE TO INVESTIGATE, IMPORTANT MATERIAL EXCULPATORY AND IMPEACHMENT EVIDENCE WAS NOT HEARD AT PEDRO MEDINA'S TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

A. THERE WAS A SECOND KNIFE SUSPECTED OF BEING THE ACTUAL MURDER WEAPON, A KNIFE NOT LINKED TO MR. MEDINA, AND A KNIFE WHICH THE JURY NEVER LEARNED ABOUT AT TRIAL

The evidence linking Mr. Medina to the murder of Dorothy James was far from strong. This was a wholly circumstantial case. As the trial prosecutor acknowledged at the 3.850 evidentiary hearing, this was a weak case for the State (H. 368). The State's argument at trial necessarily focused on the two real facts that the State had: Mr. Medina was arrested in Ms. James' car; a knife was also found in the car. The <u>knife</u> became central to the State's presentation. The knife was in fact touted time and again as the murder weapon.

Now, the State's going to call several witnesses, the first of which is that young lady you saw in here a few minutes ago. That lady is Arnita James. She is one of Ms. James' daughters. And Arnita James will come in and tell you . . . that at a point in time she and her boy friend, Ernest Arnold, the young black fellow, went over to her mother's apartment, and then when they went to her mother's apartment something was amiss. The first thing amiss was the mother's Cadillac was missing, which was rather unusual. And that on entering the apartment with the key that she had they found Ms. James alongside the bed with this gag in her mouth and with several wounds, and the house was as it was.

(R. 128)(State's opening).

а

We'll also call a couple of highway patrolmen . . . And they're going to tell you that in that car was that Defendant, Pedro Medina, underneath the wheel of that car up there at 1-10. <u>Thev will also</u> tell you about things that they found in that car. one of, one particular Piece of evidence being a knife.

(R. 131-32) (emphasis added).

And then there will be the testimony of Mr. Michael White. Mr. White will tell you that Mr. Medina offered their car for sale to him on the 4th of April, the next day, the first day after Ms. James was last seen alive. That Mr. Medina was offering this car for sale to him. And that over a period of days, on the 6th of April, they finally agreed on a price. And he paid Mr. Medina the price for the car. And that at some point in time he saw Mr. Medina with a knife.

(R. 132-33) (emphasis added).

There will be some evidence, some testimony from the people at the crime lab up in Sanford about processing of this knife, and what efforts they made, <u>and what conclusions **they**</u> can give you about what was on or isn't on the knife; about some cigarette buts.

(R. 134) (emphasis added).

During the trial, there was testimony presented concerning the laboratory

test performed on the knife. James McNamara testified:

Q. All right, sir. Did you run some tests after you or before you disassembled that knife to determine whether or not there was a possibility of the presence of blood on the knife?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. All right, sir. And from your testing did you get a positive or negative result?

Well, the only area according to **my** notes where I saw Α. anything that could have been blood was a small stained area where the blade and handle met. I did a presumptive test because this was a very faint stained area, very small, smeared, and was not a drop, for example, of blood, or anything where very much examination could have been done. The first test we often do is screening tests or presumptive tests for blood. It's a color test. It indicates the, merely indicates the presence of blood staining and need for further tests. That is to identity blood as positively being there, whether or not it is human or animal. And grouping tests are done if there is enough blood. In this case that presumptive test or screening test was positive in that area. However, none of those other tests was positive in that area. However, none of those others tests I just mentioned, because of that limited amount of stained area, was done. There was no blood found when I disassembled the knife and looked down in the cracks of the handle, and had taken it apart. I thoroughly swabbed those areas and no blood was identified in those areas.

Q. Am I correct in saying that because of the minimal amount of the sample that you had to test you were unable to confirm one way or the other whether or not the first indication was in fact blood?

A. That's correct.

**Q.** All right. On the presumptive test you got a positive?

A. That is correct.

(R. 584-85). Michael White then testified that he had seen Mr. Medina with a knife (R. 646). (Mr. White's testimony is discussed in section B, <u>infra</u>.)

When defense counsel moved for a directed verdict at the close of the State's case, the knife found in Ms. James' car played a critical part in the Court's denial of the motion:

MR. EDWARDS: Your Honor, there has been no proof as far as the object used to effect the death of the victim, Dorothy James. The State has alleged in their indictment it's a knife. There has been no proof so far that would substantiate a knife or in fact the knife as presented by the State to the Court.

THE COURT: Well, medical examiner testified that the wounds could have been made by a knife or other sharp cutting instrument. That's sufficient to go to the jury, and be a question for them to find as to whether or not it was inflicted by stabbing with a knife.

There is also evidence the Defendant was found in possession of a knife. It's not conclusive whether or not. . .

MR. MEDINA: (Interposing) That's not the knife.

THE COURT: Be quiet, Mr. Medina. It was found in the car, which the Defendant was shown to have been driving. There is some evidence the jury can consider on that issue. The Court finds the evidence sufficient on the issue to take that issue to the jury.

(R. 658).

In closing arguments, the State again focused on the knife:

[W]e don't know what he did with the knife. We simply have shown you that he had a knife and he had the opportunity.

(R. 792). Since the State had placed so much emphasis on the inculpatory nature

of the knife found in the car with Mr. Medina, defense counsel was forced to

address it himself in closing argument:

I believe Trooper Wilson was the one who stopped Mr. Medina in the rest area at Lake City. <u>He was the one that found the knife.</u> <u>I</u> <u>believe he indicated to you that he did not find any blood on the</u> <u>knife</u>. The knife was lying underneath the hub cap.

Now. the implication is there that if it's lving underneath the hub cap on the rear of the floor that somebody's trying to hide that knife. Well. if somebody was trying to hide that knife they'd have used that knife in a crime, Ditched it out the window going down the Interstate or some other place. Putting a knife under a hub cap in a car you're still in is not really hiding a knife.

(R. 773) (emphasis added). Mr. McNamara's testimony about the possible presence of blood on the knife also had to be discussed:

And that [Mr. McNamara] examined the knife that was found, that the State has made such a big to-do about in this case.

I would suggest to you that the lack of a sample doesn't mean it's really there. But you can't see it. The State has said, and the evidence has shown, that there was a stain on the knife. Now, this is a threshold test. It's a color test to see if there is a possibility that something is on that knife.

Now, detective, or rather doctor, excuse me, James McNamara said that with regard to that stain he could not tell if it was human blood. He could not tell if it was animal blood. In fact, he could not tell if it was blood at all. He also said that the substance, too, there could have been a vegetable matter.

The State said, here's positive proof there is blood on this knife. Ladies and gentlemen, positive proof is not positive proof when you could have been cutting a cucumber and that could be cucumber juice or some other vegetable matter. That does not make it positive proof. You cannot say, here's a stain on something and it's positive as to the possibility of it being there, so it must be there, whether or not we can prove it's there or not.

I would suggest to you one interesting point about the examination of the knife. Had that knife been used to stab someone ten times as deeply and viciously as Dorothy James was stabbed there would have been some blood in the locking mechanism of that knife. That knife was taken apart by Mr. McNamara, was examined by him. He didn't find a stain in the locking mechanism. If you think about a pocketknife, there are areas in a pocketknife that are pretty darn hard to clean. That area was examined and taken apart. And no proof whatsoever of any blood in that area.

I like you to think if someone is going to be stabbed ten times it's probably going to put a little blood around. I just ask that you think about that.

(R. 776-77).

There **is** no question about the importance of the knife introduced at this trial, a trial involving circumstantial evidence. The State argued that **it** was the murder weapon, the defense tried to rebut that argument, and the jury was obviously concerned with **it**. But there was a great deal more that the jury should have heard.

During post-conviction investigation, it was discovered that a second knife had been presented to and examined by the same medical examiner who testified at the trial, Dr. Sashi Gore, in connection with Ms. James' murder. At the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Gore testified that in the course of his original investigation he catalogued photographic slides (taken by himself or his technician), of what was inspected. The slides were then filed according to the case numbers (H. 735). One of the slides in this case was of a serrated, fixed handle knife (H. 736; Def. Exh. 9).<sup>1</sup>

Dr. Gore testified that the serrated knife was brought to him at the end of the autopsy he performed on Ms. James:

 $\underline{\text{Q}}_{\cdot}$  . Do you remember what the purpose was in bringing the knife to you?

A. The purpose probably was that if the police thought at that time this could have been a suspicious knife which might have been used, then they might have brought it in for my evaluation.

(H. 743).

Dr. Gore further testified at the evidentiary hearing that <u>either</u> the serrated knife (Defense Exh. 9) <u>or</u> the buck knife found in the car (Defense Exh. 11) could have caused the wounds suffered by Ms. James (H. 745). Although it could have been the murder weapon (H. 745), the serrated knife had no connection whatsoever to Mr. Medina. Dr. Gore additionally testified concerning a diagram found in his autopsy files (Def. Ex. 8):

Well, I don't remember who drew this, but this, what is in the diagram, it shows serrations on one side. And on the other side it is a straight, slightly bent knife.

(H. 741). Serrations are not consistent with the knife found in the car -- it is not serrated. Neither was there evidence that it was bent.

William Sharpe, the trial prosecutor, testified that he did not know about

<sup>&#</sup>x27;The knife that the State had "identified" as the murder weapon was a "locking blade pocket knife . . . similar to a buck knife" (Testimony of Trooper Robert Wilson, H. 729). It was not serrated.

the second, serrated knife (H. **315)**, and that he disclosed parts of the medical examiner's file to the defense:

Q Now, did you, as part of the discovery process under Florida Criminal Rules and also under Brady versus Maryland, disclose any of his notes or his entire file or his set of slides that you obtained to the defense lawyer?

A At that time there was a preliminary, what we use to call a body sheet. I'm sure that they've got that there, would be the final autopsy report. I'm sure they got that. Photographs, slides. I don't know that we disclosed those. We made those available. I remember that Mr. Edwards took Doctor Gore's deposition and during the course of the period of the deposition looked at all the slides.

Q Now, isn't it a fact that at that deposition, Doctor Gore did not bring all of his photographs?

A You'd to have ask Doctor Gore that. I don't know.

 ${\tt Q}$  Would the record be the best evidence of whether or not that's a fact?

**A** I don't know whether the record would be the best evidence or not. Doctor Gore is in a better position to answer that than I am.

Q If, in fact, during the deposition, and I believe you were present at that deposition, if. during that demosition. he stated that he did not brine all his photographs, then would you have any way to -- [is] that contrary to your memory in any way?

A I don't have any memory one way or another. I know that there were slides shown during the course of that - not during the course of the deposition, but probably at the end of the deposition. Whether that was all of them or not, I don't know.

(H. 312-13). In his deposition, Dr. Gore had stated:

Q. Okay. Do you have those photographs with you?

A. Yes, sir. (Pause) Well, these are not all, but some of these. Yeah, here -- here's the scene investigation on the right side.

(R. 1252).

It was also discovered during post-conviction investigation that the second, serrated knife was apparently taken from the victim's residence.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The State had filed this evidence in the files of David Johnston, not Pedro Medina. Mr. Johnston is another Florida capital inmate. His case is unrelated to Mr. Medina's. The evidence was uncovered by CCR counsel during (continued...)

Then at this time I would like to move into evidence a document which, when Donna Harris went over to the state **attorney's** office to review the files in another case, David Johnston, she found notes relating to the case of Pedro Medina in the Johnston file.

There is a note here that says, "Cora seems to think that Nazarchuk brought the knife in from her..." and then it's eot a little V apostrophe S. which I assume stands for victim's residence.

At this time I would like to move that document -- have it marked first for identification.

You're going to want to argue; right.

(H. 767-68) (emphasis added). In the process of arguing that the note should not be allowed into evidence, the 3.850 hearing prosecutor argued that it just represented a continuing investigation by his office based on the allegations raised in the 3.850 motion (H. 770). Defense counsel responded:

MS. DOUGHERTY: Well, Judge, I would offer it to show that the state attorney did an investigation and that the results of that investigation were that Dr. Gore's assistant stated that she thought that the knife had been brought from the victim's residence by the chief detective on the case, Detective Nazarchuk.

Id. Dr. Gore testified that "Cora" was his office's secretary (H. 741-42). Nonetheless, the circuit court did not allow the note to be admitted. Further, when counsel attempted to call Mr. Ashton (the prosecutor below) to the witness stand to authenticate and discuss the note, which was found in his file, the court ordered her to call her next witness and not "labor any further on the point. . . . So your proffer is denied" (H. 772).<sup>3</sup>

Also called to testify at the evidentiary hearing was Austin Maslanik, an experienced defense attorney with the Tenth Judicial Circuit's Public Defender's office, who was qualified as an expert in the defense of capital cases (H. 86).

<sup>2</sup>(.,.continued)

D

Ď

investigation of Mr. Johnston's case, as it was not in Mr. Medina's files. Donna Harris, referred to immed ately be ow, is an nvestigator with the CCR office.

<sup>&#</sup>x27;These limiting rulings, as well as a number of others discussed in subsequent portions of this brief, were erroneous. But it was in the context of such rulings that Appellant attempted to present his case below.

Dr. Gore had testified that the defense had **"access"** to his files (H. 742), although he had not brought them all to his deposition (<u>See supra</u>). Mr. Maslanik testified:

Q Why would reasonably competent counsel investigate the medical examiner, the medical examiner's evaluation?

A Well, because the medical examiner is often a critical witness in a homicide case and, additionally in a death penalty case, because often the medical examiner is the witness that provides perhaps some of the most important testimony regarding aggravating factors and also cause of death. . . And in particular as it gets to a weapon, it has extreme significance because, assuming perhaps that you have two possible weapons, the discovery of a second weapon and the comparison with the weapon to the injuries that the deceased sustained in this case would be particularly helpful to the defense.

Particularly since Mr. Medina was denying committing the crime and since there was one knife that was found in his car, the existence of a second knife would assist the defense in creating reasonable doubt.

(H. 587-90).

ł

١

b

Finally, Anna Tangel-Rodriguez,<sup>4</sup> one of the two defense attorneys at trial,

testified that she was unaware of the serrated knife's existence:

No. I had no information about the second knife. I did not. I cannot state whether Warren ever did, but I can state that <u>Warren</u> never explained or told me about it, and that did not come up in any discussions.

\* \* \*

BY MR, NOLAS: Q Would You have investinated that further?

A <u>Certainly</u>.

\* \* \*

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