#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUN 8 1990

OLERK, SURREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

PEDRO MEDINA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 73,856

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #410519 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

The issue whether the state failed to disclose information is insufficient on its face. The trial court did not err in denying an evidentiary hearing where the defendant only made conclusory allegations and the record shows he is not entitled to relief. Agan v. State, 503 So.2d 1254 (Fla. 1987); O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So.2d 1354 (Fla. 1984); Lightbourne v. State, 471

So.2d 27 (Fla. 1985); Stano v. State, 520 So.2d 278, 280 (Fla. 1988).

V

MEDINA WAS NOT DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND HIS RIGHT TO A COMPETENT MENTAL EXAM AND HIS ATTORNEY DID NOT FAIL TO INVESTIGATE AND SEEK COMPETENT MENTAL HEALTH ASSISTANCE.

Medina was examined by two experts who determined he was competent to stand trial, not insane at the time of the offense, and demonstrated no mental deficiencies which would serve as mitigation. Trial counsel moved for additional psychiatric examinations at several stages during the trial. This court found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying counsel's motion to appoint a third psychiatrist after two experts had already found Medina competent. Medina v. State, 466 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1985). Medina now alleges that the mental examinations were grossly deficient, and counsel was ineffective in failing to seek competent mental evaluations.

The issue whether the mental examinations were incompetent is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on direct appeal. Smith v. State, 15 FLW S81 (Fla. February 15, 1990); Bundy v. State, 538 So.2d 445 (Fla. 1989). The ineffectiveness of counsel claim is a disguised attempt to relitigate an issue which is barred. Sireci v. State, 469 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1985); Quince v. State, 477 So.2d 535 (Fla. 1986); Clark v. State, 460 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1984). See also, Buenoano v. State, 15 FLW S196 (Fla. April 13, 1990). Correll v. State, 15 FLW S147 (Fla. March 16, 1990).

Furthermore, the incompetent mental exam issue has In Correll, this court rejected an ineffectiveness claim based on an allegedly incompetent mental exam. This court noted three new the mere presentation of expert opinions questioning the defendant's mental capacity did not require a new penalty proceeding. In Provenzano v. State, 15 F.L.W. S260 (Fla. April 26, 1990), a claim of inadequate mental health experts was rejected. This court stated that "the mere fact that Provenzano has now secured an expert who might have offered more favorable testimony is an insufficient basis for relief." In Stano v. State, 520 So.2d 278, 281 (Fla. 1988), this court also observed that whether the appellant had now found experts whose opinions may be more favorable to him was of no consequence. As discussed in Point II, counsel was aware of Medina's background but made a tactical decision not to present negative testimony at the penalty phase. An attorney is not ineffective for failing to pursue every possible defense based on a particular mental Blanco v. Wainwright, 507 So.2d 1377, 1383 (Fla. The possibility of brain damage does not necessarily mean one is incompetent or that he may engage in violent, dangerous behavior and not be held accountable. James v. State, 489 So.2d 737 (Fla. 1986).

Although Medina now challenges the effectiveness of self-report, the experts at the evidentiary hearing based their analysis in part on self-report. They also used an affidavit allegedly from Medina's mother which was not admitted into evidence because, as the trial court observed, there was no proof

that the affidavit was authentic. The information about Medina's background was available to the trial experts, who found it unconvincing. The trial judge reviewed the jail records at the competency hearing and found them unconvincing. Counsel informed the court of his disagreement with the experts, but was denied a third expert. He twice asked for another evaluation during trial when Medina was acting up. Counsel argued his mental problems and this court recognized those problems in Medina v. State, 466 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1985).

Medina also takes issue with the trial court limiting the testimony of Dr. Marina regarding competency. The issue of competency is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on direct appeal and is without merit. (See Point VI herein). Counsel did all he could to raise competency, and the issue went to a full hearing (R 940-960). Medina faults counsel for not being familiar with mental health law and not seeking confidential evaluation. Counsel sought the advice of two experts to determine competency and sanity because of Medina's obvious mental infirmity and history of mental problems (R 1668). Medina was claiming innocence, and the insanity defense is inconsistent with innocence. Jones v. State, 528 So.2d 1171 (Fla. 1988); Lowenfield v. Phelps, 817 F.2d 285 (5th Cir. 1987). Counsel had no reason to pursue the appointment of a confidential expert under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.216(a) since he was not pursuing the insanity defense.

VI

MEDINA WAS COMPETENT TO STAND TRIAL.

Medina next argues that he was incompetent to stand trial. He notes that trial counsel moved for an additional psychiatric exam and questioned Medina's mental health (Initial brief at 80). This issue should have been raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred. Smith v. State, 14 FLW S81 (Fla. February 15, 1990). Bundy v. State, 538 So.2d 445 (Fla. 1989). The trial court did not err in denying an evidentiary hearing on this issue. Francis v. State, 529 So.2d 670, 672 n.2 (Fla. 1988).

Furthermore, the issue has no merit. A full competency hearing was held the day before trial. Although Medina may have been unruly at times, he settled down after he was advised what the appropriate behavior was. As Ms. Rodriguez observed during the penalty phase, he was unfamiliar with courtroom proceedings and did not know how to behave. Although Medina became upset because he thought the deputies were roughing him up, after he was shackled and knew his behavior was inappropriate, he was Medina testified at trial, at the penalty phase, and at 669, 988, 1037). sentencing (R His testimony shows appreciated the charges, the penalties, understood the adversary nature of the legal process, could disclose pertinent facts to his attorney, and could testify relevantly. His ability to relate details of the night of the murder show he was able to recall and recount the events. A subsequent finding of possible brain damage does not mean a person was incompetent at the time James v. State, 489 So.2d 737 (Fla. 1986). though Medina may have had mental problems, he knew right from wrong and was capable of conforming his conduct to societal

standards. He simply did not wish to conform his conduct and did not care that his actions were wrong. This does not mean he is incompetent. See Henderson v. Dugger, 522 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1988). In fact, Medina apologized for his behavior, explaining it was only because he was unfamiliar with courtroom procedure (R 65, 71, 72, 73). A subsequent diagnosis made by a defense-hired expert five years after the conviction does not affect the evidence supporting competency. Id. at 837.

VIT

MEDINA WAS COMPETENT AT SENTENCING.

As stated in Point VI, this issue is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on direct appeal. The issue has no merit. Medina's testimony at sentencing shows he was coherent, made an intelligent argument in his behalf, and was cognizant of what was happening.

VII

MEDINA'S STATEMENTS WERE PROPERLY INTRODUCED INTO EVIDENCE AND COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO PREVAIL AT THE SUPPRESSION HEARING.

Medina argues that the statements made April 8 and 9, 1982, and evidence seized from Ms. James' car should have been He also argues that counsel was ineffective for failing to prevail at the suppression hearings and for failing to to suppress statements made prior to the move taped interrogation. The suppression issues were raised on direct appeal, and this court found that the search of the car was lawful and the statements were made freely and voluntarily.

Medina v. State, 466 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1985). These issues are procedurally barred. Clark v. State, 460 So.2d 886, 888 (Fla. 1984). Raising the issues as ineffective assistance of counsel is a disguised attempt to relitigate the issue. Sireci v. State, 469 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1985); Quince v. State, 477 So.2d 535 (Fla. 1986); Clark v. State, 460 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1984). Since this court found the evidence was properly admitted, counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to exclude the evidence. Trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to prevail on meritless claims or claims which had no reasonable probability of affecting the outcome. Strickland v. Washington, 46 U.S. 668 (1984); Suarez v. Dugger, 527 So.2d 190 (Fla. 1988); Gorham v. State, 521 So.2d 1067 (Fla. 1988).

ΙX

MEDINA WAS NOT ENTITLED TO BE PRESENT DURING THE DISCUSSION CONCERNING WHETHER HE SHOULD BE SHACKLED AND COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT ASSURING HIS PRESENCE.

Medina contends he should have been present while the court and his attorney were discussing his hostile behavior in his holding cell. He also contends counsel was ineffective for failing to object to his absence. The judge sent Ms. Rodriguez to talk to Medina and apprise him of the situation. She told the judge he was agitated because the guards roughed him up and he had to stay in isolation. He had agreed to behave in the courtroom. The judge ordered Medina be shackled over Mr. Edward's objections (R 240, 247).

This issue should have been raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred. <u>Buenoano v. State</u>, 15 FLW S196 (Fla. April 5, 1990); <u>Correll v. State</u>, 15 FLW S147, S149 n.6 (Fla. March 16, 1990); <u>Henderson v. Dugger</u>, 522 So.2d 835, 836 (Fla. 1988). Raising the issue as ineffective assistance of counsel is a disguised attempt to relitigate the issue. <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 469 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1985); <u>Quince v. State</u>, 477 So.2d 535 (Fla. 1986); Clark v. State, 460 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1984).

Х

COUNSEL DID NOT FAIL TO PRESERVE MEDINA'S RIGHT TO A MISTRIAL WHEN A JUROR WAS DISQUALIFIED.

Medina alleges that counsel was ineffective in acquiescing to the court excusing a juror. The record shows that Mr. Edwards moved for a mistrial which was denied (R 664). On direct appeal, Medina contended that the trial judge erred in not granting a mistrial and in refusing to allow defense counsel to question an excused juror about the other jurors' feelings concerning White's unsolicited testimony. Medina v. State, 466 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1985). This court observed that the trial court properly removed the juror, that Medina's request to question this juror would have produced only speculation and conjecture and the trial court correctly refused to allow such questioning, that Medina failed to demonstrate prejudice, and that the trial court committed no error. Id. at 1049.

Couching the issue in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel does not warrant relief where the issue has been disposed of on appeal. Quince v. State, 477 So.2d 535 (Fla. 1986).

Counsel is not ineffective for not prevailing on a non-meritorious issue. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Suarez v. Dugger, 527 So.2d 190 (Fla. 1988); Gorham v. State, 521 So.2d 1067 (Fla. 1988). Furthermore, Medina has failed to show deficient performance under Strickland where counsel moved for a mistrial and there was no error which would have required relief in any case. This court has previously found that Medina was not prejudiced, so the second prong of Strickland is likewise not established.

XT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RESTRICTING CROSS EXAMINATION OF LINDI JAMES AND COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE COURT'S LIMITATION.

Medina disputes the trial court's limiting counsel's cross-examination of Lindi James regarding Billy Andrews, and maintains counsel was ineffective for failing to object to this limitation.

This issue should have been raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred. Correll v. State, 15 FLW \$147, \$149 n.6 (Fla. March 16, 1990). Raising the issue as ineffective assistance of counsel is a disguised attempt to relitigate the issue. Sireci v. State, 469 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1985); Quince v. State, 477 So.2d 535 (Fla. 1986); Clark v. State, 460 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1984).

A similar issue was raised on direct appeal, and this court found that the scope and control of cross-examination is within the trial court's discretion, that Medina failed to show an abuse

of that discretion, and there was no reversible error. Medina v. State, 466 So.2d 1046, 1050 (Fla. 1986). Likewise, in this situation the trial court did not abuse its discretion, and its rulings were proper. The court sustained state objections to testimony which was clearly hearsay, irrelevant, asked and answered (R 252-59). Medina has demonstrated no error or prejudice in the court's ruling which would support a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel. He has failed to show deficiency under Strickland. Furthermore, there was no prejudice. The information that Billy Andrews was a suspect was presented to the The jury chose to believe Medina committed the offense. Presentation of more evidence would not have changed the verdict where Medina admitted to being in the apartment before and after the murder, took Ms. James' car without permission and tried to sell it, and could not adequately explain how she happened to be murdered during the one hour he was absent.

XTT

THE STATE'S CLOSING ARGUMENT WAS NOT IMPROPER AND DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT.

Medina contends that the prosecutor engaged in improper comments in closing arguments. This issue is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on appeal. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 15 FLW S81 (Fla. February 19, 1990); <u>Lightbourne v. Dugger</u>, 549 So.2d 1364 (Fla. 1989); State v. Washington, 453 So.2d 389 (Fla. 1984).

Medina also contends that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's comments. Whether to object is a matter of trial tactics which are left to the

discretion of the attorney so long as his performance is within the range of what is expected of reasonably competent counsel. Muhammed v. State, 426 So.2d 533, 538 (Fla. 1982). Although counsel may have decided not to voice appropriate objections, few trials proceed without any such error and it is almost always possible to imagine a more thorough job being done that was White v. State, 15 FLW S151 (Fla. March 15, actually done. 1990), quoting Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So. 2d 927, 932 (Fla. 1986). Medina has not shown deficient performance or prejudice under Strickland. Even if the prosecutor's comments were objectionable, relief is warranted only where the error is so egregious as to vitiate the entire trial. Johnston v. State, 493 So.2d 863, 869 (Fla. 1986); State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1986). A prosecutor is entitled to comment on the evidence and inferences to be drawn therefrom. Gibson v. State, 475 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). A comment on the lack of evidence is proper. Tarpley v. State, 477 So.2d 63 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to the jury. Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982); Darden v. State, 329 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1976).

XIII

MEDINA'S RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED BY BEING HANDCUFFED AND SHACKLED AND COUNSEL DID NOT FAIL TO OBJECT

Medina argues that he was handcuffed in the presence of the jury to which counsel failed to object or request a curative instruction.

This issue was raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred. Buenoano v. State, 15 FLW S196 (Fla. April 5, 1990); Correll v. State, 15 FLW S147, S149 n.6 (Fla. March 16, 1990). Raising the issue as ineffective assistance of counsel is a disguised attempt to relitigate the issue. Sireci v. State, 469 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1985); Quince v. State, 477 So.2d 535 (Fla. 1986); Clark v. State, 460 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1984).

This court found there was no impropriety or undue prejudice from the court's denial of a motion for mistrial because Medina had been shackled and handcuffed during the trial.

Medina v. State, 466 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1986). Medina cannot show prejudice under Strickland.

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